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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Good morning. My

          3  name is Councilman Stewart, and welcome to this

          4  joint hearing of the Committee on Immigration and

          5  the Committee on Consumer Affairs.

          6                 As Chair of the Immigration

          7  Committee, I would like to welcome my co-chair,

          8  Council Member Philip Reed, as well as the members

          9  of his Committee.

         10                 I would also like to welcome

         11  Councilman Barron from Brooklyn, Councilman Fidler,

         12  also from Brooklyn, and Councilman Gentile from

         13  Brooklyn. The other members of this Committee will

         14  join us later.

         15                 Before I turn to the main topic of

         16  our hearing today, which is Intro. 228, the

         17  Immigration Committee will vote on Reso 42, very

         18  briefly I want to commend Council Member Martinez on

         19  his tireless work on immigration issues generally,

         20  and especially for his leadership on Reso 42, which

         21  sends an important message about the kind of

         22  immigrations reform New York and the Nation needs.

         23                 Reso 42 promotes the realistic needs

         24  of immigrants by calling on congress to oppose the

         25  temporary Guest Worker Program sketched out by
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          2  President Bush this past January.

          3                 The President proposal will not offer

          4  parts to permanent legal residency or even

          5  citizenship for immigrants, nor would it provide the

          6  kinds of protection workers and families need.

          7                 Reso 42 recognizes the shortcomings

          8  of President Bush's proposal, and calls on Congress

          9  to support legislation that provides meaningful

         10  reform.

         11                 The Immigration Committee will

         12  continue to push for effective immigration reform

         13  that provides part to permanency and citizenship for

         14  hard-working immigrants and their families.

         15                 Now I want to turn to -- well, before

         16  we do that, I would take the vote, as the clerk is

         17  here. We'll take the vote on that so we can move on

         18  to our main issue today.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Stewart.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Barron.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: May I explain

         23  my vote?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I just want to
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          2  say that this is very timely, I'm glad that it's

          3  happening, and we've got to make sure that work,

          4  selective work clarity that he was trying to give

          5  the immigrants, really use them for labor, so that

          6  we make sure that we get the naturalization process,

          7  permanent residency process moving faster so that we

          8  can have legalized citizenship. The immigrants

          9  contributed tremendous amount of money for the

         10  economy, and they're able to even go to war and die

         11  for strange causes.

         12                 So, I want to support this

         13  legislation 100 percent, and I'm glad that it's

         14  being put forward, and we need to rigorously build a

         15  movement around it to make it have it have even more

         16  teeth.

         17                 And I say aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Mr. Chairman,

         20  may I be briefly excused to explain my vote?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You may.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: As I first

         23  mentioned, that the first hearing on Reso 42, I

         24  spent almost 20 years of my life in the commercial

         25  practice of law in the area of immigration, and as a
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          2  result I have assisted many, many, many people in

          3  getting their permanent residents and their

          4  citizenship in this country, and so I had a unique

          5  perspective on the immigration law that perhaps

          6  others don't.

          7                 The proposal that was made by the

          8  President, that he acutely calls immigration reform,

          9  is an outrage. And it is predicated upon the most

         10  non-sensical notion, you know, that if it weren't so

         11  sad, it would be laugh out loud funny, that when

         12  someone is invited to this country here on a

         13  temporary basis to work, that they will voluntarily

         14  leave the country at the end of that period of time,

         15  that they aren't being offered the opportunity to

         16  convert that status into a permanent life here with

         17  their families, united with their families, they are

         18  coming here for a reason, and it's not so that the

         19  large companies in this country can exploit them for

         20  a few years and then send them home.

         21                 It is ill thought of, it is ill

         22  minded. And I vote aye on Resolution 42, and while I

         23  will be briefly excusing myself to go and take care

         24  of some other business, I do look forward to coming

         25  back here and participating in the rest of this
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          2  hearing regarding immigration practitioners, because

          3  I certainly have a great deal of experience in

          4  dealing with people who have been abused and

          5  exploited by them as well. And I do look forward to

          6  coming back. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I would ask if

          8  any of my other colleagues want to say something on

          9  Reso 42? Even though you're not a member of the

         10  immigration Committee.

         11                 Before I continue, there is a common

         12  saying that just because we, who are here now, have

         13  our citizenship and we can vote, it doesn't mean we

         14  can forget those who have just arrived, and with

         15  that in mind, we all support that Reso 42.

         16                 Now we return to Intro. 223, a bill

         17  that will help protect New Yorkers who need

         18  assistance with immigration matters.

         19                 Many immigrants have limited means

         20  and need help navigating the extremely complicated

         21  immigration process.

         22                 Unfortunately, affordable legal

         23  services are not universally available to immigrants

         24  who need them.

         25                 When affordable legal assistance is
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          2  not available, many people seek help from providers

          3  of immigration assistant services, who do not have

          4  legal training, but sometimes provide legal advice;

          5  promise results over which they do not have control;

          6  overcharge for services, or make errors on

          7  immigration forms.

          8                 Their actions can cause financial

          9  distress or serious harm to clients' immigration

         10  status.

         11                 Intro. 223 aims to provide a partial

         12  solution to the problems faced by too many

         13  immigrants living in New York City who rely on

         14  non-lawyer providers or immigration assistance

         15  services.

         16                 The bill will protect immigrants by

         17  prohibiting harmful practices of immigration

         18  assistance providers, like giving legal advice and

         19  guaranteeing outcomes over which they do not have

         20  control. By requiring to post clear notices,

         21  informing customers that they are not attorneys and

         22  of the costs of their services, and by requiring

         23  signed contracts between customers and providers of

         24  immigration assistant services.

         25                 It also provides powerful enforcement
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          2  tools in the form of substantial civil and criminal

          3  penalties for violations.

          4                 As I mentioned before, however, we

          5  know that Intro. 223 is only part of the solution.

          6  Many New York City residents need a lawyer's advice,

          7  navigating the immigration process, but do not

          8  currently have access to affordable legal

          9  assistance.

         10                 I am pleased that the Council is

         11  supporting the expansion of the Immigrant

         12  Opportunities Initiative this year. It will increase

         13  funding for immigrants legal services.

         14                 I know that we have many witnesses

         15  here today, and I look forward to hearing their

         16  testimony, regarding 223.

         17                 Having said that, I will ask my

         18  colleague and co-chair, the co-chair of this

         19  hearing, but the chair of the Consumer Affairs,

         20  Philip Reed, for a comment.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         22  much, Council member.

         23                 It's a pleasure to have an

         24  opportunity to work with you today on a bill I think

         25  of importance to a great many of New Yorkers, and
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          2  certainly all of us in the Council are becoming more

          3  and more aware of the population of immigrants in

          4  our various communities.

          5                 This morning we'll hear testimony on

          6  Intro. 223 concerning immigration assistant

          7  services.

          8                 As Chair of Consumer Affairs and a

          9  Council member in East Harlem, I, as I said, have

         10  become aware of the need for these services. In

         11  fact, I've had one of the people that work for me,

         12  has fallen victim to the kind of services that we're

         13  trying to now put clarity around and make them make

         14  statements. It's interesting to hear what his story

         15  is and what it's cost him.

         16                 Some of these services are reputable

         17  and professional, but many are not.

         18                 We have heard allegations of them

         19  overcharging clients, charging for services they do

         20  not perform, significantly erroring on client

         21  immigration forms and even keeping clients' precious

         22  personal documents without assisting them. We must

         23  stop these practices and this legislation.

         24                 Intro. 223 serves several important

         25  roles. First, it clearly defines immigration
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          2  assistant services and exempt the individuals and

          3  specified organizations that do provide credible

          4  immigration services.

          5                 Second, it flatly prohibits the most

          6  egregious conduct we've seen in this industry.

          7                 Third, it requires that consumers be

          8  given a variety of notice of limitations of

          9  immigration assistant services.

         10                 Finally, the bill establishes

         11  significant criminal and civil penalties for

         12  misconduct, and provides a civil cause of action to

         13  anyone harmed by a non-compliant immigration

         14  assistant service. I commend the Chair for his

         15  leadership in this area, and I'm proud to serve as a

         16  sponsor of this bill. I'd like to thank the staff of

         17  the Immigration Committee for their work in putting

         18  this together, and of course I'd like to thank the

         19  Council to the Consumer Affairs Committee, Deborah

         20  Brown, for her work. Together I think we are going

         21  to make, give certainly a sense to that population

         22  that we are concerned about their rights and more

         23  importantly, send a signal to those who would prey

         24  on them, that that's unacceptable behavior.

         25                 Finally, I'd like to just take a
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          2  moment to also support Reso 42. I think Council

          3  Member Fidler sort of wrapped it up.

          4                 When I first heard the concept from

          5  the president, I thought really that I was watching

          6  Saturday Night Live. It just doesn't make any sense

          7  that you're going to welcome people and tell them to

          8  go work, because that's going to want to make them

          9  want to go home. It just, I don't get it. Well, I

         10  don't get much of this Administration, so I don't

         11  know why I should understand that either.

         12                 I certainly am a prime supporter of

         13  that and looking forward to having a chance to vote

         14  for that in the full committee. Unfortunately, I'm

         15  not -- I'll be here to hear part of the testimony,

         16  but this is Senior Advocacy Day, so a lot of us are

         17  trying to be at 250 or many other places. I'm

         18  looking forward to getting our Intro done and making

         19  this law. Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you,

         21  Council Member Reed.

         22                 At this time I'd like to call Sayu

         23  Ghojwani, the Commissioner of the Mayor's Office of

         24  Immigrant Affairs, and also Pauline Toole, who is

         25  the Assistant Commissioner for Consumer Affairs.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Good morning.

          3  Good morning to Chairman Reed and Chairman Stewart,

          4  members of the Committees on Immigration and

          5  Consumer Affairs.

          6                 I'm Sayu Bhojwani, Commissioner of

          7  the Mayor's Office of Immigrant Affairs, and I'm

          8  grateful for the opportunity to testify before you

          9  on Intro. 223, a bill to ensure the protection of

         10  immigrants from fraudulent service providers, in

         11  terms of which we support whole-heartedly.

         12                 Over the past two years, the Office

         13  of Immigrant Affairs has reviewed and analyzed

         14  pending legislation in New York State and existing

         15  legislation in Chicago, California, Illinois,

         16  Minnesota, Arizona, New Mexico and Washington.

         17                 My staff and I have also met with a

         18  variety of community members in an effort to address

         19  the needs of immigrant consumers whose lives are

         20  sometimes profoundly affected by providers of

         21  immigration assistance.

         22                 In December of last year, the Office

         23  of Immigrant Affairs and the Department of Consumer

         24  Affairs jointly convened a press conference in

         25  Chinatown to inform the public about the dangers of
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          2  immigrant consultant fraud.

          3                 The event was attended by a wide

          4  section of immigrant press and mainstream press and

          5  was scheduled a few weeks prior to the deadline for

          6  the Diversity Visa Lottery, an annual lottery which

          7  makes available 50,000 permanent resident visas to

          8  persons from countries with low rates of immigration

          9  to the United States.

         10                 During the press conference, we

         11  publicized the availability of 311, which is

         12  accessible in 170 languages, as a way to report any

         13  incidents of immigrant consultant fraud and to file

         14  a complaint to seek recourse through the City's

         15  Department of Consumer Affairs.

         16                 To assist the public in selecting

         17  immigration service providers, the Office of

         18  Immigrant Affairs and the Department of Consumer

         19  Affairs publicized and made available on our

         20  websites a list of all the non-profit immigration

         21  service organizations in New York City accredited by

         22  the federal Board of Immigration Appeals and

         23  permitted to represent individuals in immigration

         24  proceedings.

         25                 Around the City, small, usually
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          2  multi-service businesses offer immigrants assistance

          3  in completing forms for their permanent residency,

          4  citizenship and other immigration matters. These

          5  businesses often have the advantage of bilingual

          6  staff with intimate knowledge of the community and

          7  neighborhood they serve, and thus, the trust of

          8  their customers.

          9                 Those who utilize the services of

         10  immigration consultants include immigrants who need

         11  assistance, because of limited English proficiency

         12  or limited knowledge of immigration procedures, to

         13  complete an application for adjustment of status and

         14  immigrants who are uncertain about their eligibility

         15  for a particular type of immigration status. The

         16  latter category, those immigrants who are uncertain

         17  about their eligibility, includes documented and

         18  undocumented immigrants. Particularly because of

         19  their lack of familiarity with immigration

         20  procedures and with English, as well as their

         21  desperation to legal their status in the US,

         22  non-English-speaking undocumented immigrants are the

         23  most vulnerable to promises made by immigration

         24  assistance providers.

         25                 Examples of misleading promises that
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          2  can be made by unscrupulous immigration assistance

          3  providers, include:

          4                 Indicating that paying higher fees or

          5  submitting multiple entries for the Diversity Visa

          6  Lottery increases the chances of obtaining a visa.

          7  In fact, the lottery requires that you submit only

          8  one entry, and there is no fee for entering the

          9  lottery.

         10                 A second example is advertising that

         11  immigrants can be first in line for President Bush's

         12  legalization plan by paying a fee to be on a list of

         13  people who would receive an application form for

         14  permanent residency as soon as it became available.

         15                 There are also several specific cases

         16  that our office has encountered.

         17                 Recently our office received a letter

         18  written on behalf of several Chinese-American

         19  immigrants who report being victims of an

         20  exploitative immigration consultant in Chinatown.

         21  According to the letter, the consultant, who was

         22  also Chinese, and known informally as a "travel

         23  agent" has operated her business for over a decade,

         24  held herself out as a legal expert, filed incorrect

         25  immigration applications and refused to return
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          2  original immigration documents to clients.

          3                 The victims have reportedly had

          4  difficulty seeking recourse against this provider.

          5                 We also received a complaint from an

          6  immigrant from Georgia, a country in the former

          7  Soviet Union, on behalf of nine other people who had

          8  fallen free to an informal immigration service

          9  consultant who worked out of her own home.

         10                 This person claimed to have a

         11  relative working at citizenship and immigration

         12  services, and promised to obtain green cards for her

         13  clients, charging them about $6,000 each.

         14                 Immediately after taking the client's

         15  money, and without any evidence of having filed

         16  applications, she allegedly disappeared to Florida

         17  and has been difficult to find.

         18                 Clearly, the problem addressed by

         19  Intro. 223, the need for immigrants to be protected

         20  from fraudulent immigration assistance providers is,

         21  one, the Office of Immigrant Affairs needs prompt

         22  attention and action.

         23                 We believe, however, the response

         24  proposed in Intro. 223 does not go far enough.

         25                 Based on our office's extensive
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          2  review of the scope of the problem of fraudulent

          3  immigration assistance in New York City, we believe

          4  Intro. 223 can only be effective if it mandates the

          5  licensing of providers.

          6                 For immigrants who speak limited

          7  English and are unfamiliar with New York City, a

          8  list of licensed providers is the most effective way

          9  of preventing people from falling prey to fraudulent

         10  immigration service providers and suffering

         11  financial harm and harm to their immigration status.

         12                 As you know, victims may be reluctant

         13  to report the fraud because of their uncertain

         14  immigration status, and reluctance to interact with

         15  government.

         16                 In addition, when providers have

         17  already submitted a fraudulent or inappropriate

         18  immigration application, they frequently cause

         19  irrevocable damage by subjecting the immigrants to

         20  deportation risk.

         21                 Furthermore, many unscrupulous

         22  providers are fly-by-night, and cannot be located

         23  after committing the fraud, eliminating chances of

         24  restitution for the victim. For all of these

         25  reasons, we need to prevent the fraud and deception
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          2  from happening in the first place. Having licensed

          3  providers would promote accountability and enable

          4  the City to publicize wisely a list of licensees,

          5  minimizing the chances that an illegitimate provider

          6  would be used.

          7                 Using the City's multi-lingual 311

          8  government access number, immigrants could call in

          9  to obtain names of licensed providers in their

         10  neighborhoods, and for those with access to the

         11  Internet, a downloadable list of licensed providers

         12  would be a helpful tool.

         13                 I will leave it to my colleagues in

         14  the Department of Consumer Affairs to discuss in

         15  further detail the Administration's support of

         16  licensing immigration assistance providers, as well

         17  as ways of enhancing victims ability to obtain

         18  restitution.

         19                 In closing, I want to emphasize that

         20  policy is only as good as its enforceability. For a

         21  policy to protect immigrants, it has to be easily

         22  understood by those who it seeks to protect.

         23                 Signage, readable contracts and clear

         24  communication about rights and responsibilities, are

         25  very important steps in the right direction. But a
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          2  clearly defined list of providers that is easily

          3  available to immigrants around the City is an

          4  absolute necessity.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Good

          7  morning, Chairman Reed, Chairman Stewart and members

          8  of the Consumer Affairs and Immigration Committee.

          9  My name is Pauline Toole, I'm an Assistant

         10  Commissioner at the Department of Consumer Affairs

         11  and I'm very pleased to join Commissioner Bhojwani,

         12  appearing before you to discuss Intro. 223.

         13                 The Commissioner succinctly described

         14  problems that immigrants face from providers in whom

         15  they place their trust but who instead defraud them.

         16  This is a particularly ruthless type of fraud

         17  because it trades on immigrants' desires and need to

         18  follow the laws in order to remain in the United

         19  States, to work in the United States, re-unite with

         20  family members in the United States.

         21                 All too often, these so-called

         22  service providers turn immigrants' dreams into

         23  nightmares. We commend the Council for your work to

         24  develop regulations for the businesses that provide

         25  immigration assistance.
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          2                 The bill before you basically would

          3  define immigration assistance service providers, and

          4  prohibit such providers from offering guarantees

          5  with success and effort to change immigrant status,

          6  from keeping money for services not performed, from

          7  refusing to return documents, and misrepresenting

          8  their credentials.

          9                 The bill would require a written

         10  contract in English and home language that includes

         11  a cancellation clause. The bill would require signs

         12  showing the service provided and fees charged in

         13  disclaiming a relationship with government agencies

         14  and legal status.

         15                 Similar conspicuous notices would be

         16  required in advertisements. Finally, the bill

         17  establishes penalty for violations of the

         18  provisions.

         19                 We agree with the goal, the

         20  definitions and the requirement. We believe that the

         21  bill stops short and does not create an effectively

         22  enforceable law. We urge the Council to require that

         23  the providers of immigrant services be licensed.

         24                 As Commissioner Bhojwani said, the

         25  Administration has reviewed legislation to regulate
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          2  this industry in other states and countries. Many

          3  localities have moved to license the businesses that

          4  provide immigrant assistance. Washington, Illinois

          5  and California all require registration or licensing

          6  as does Canada, and other states are moving in this

          7  direction.

          8                 The DCA already licenses 55 types of

          9  businesses ranging from amusement arcades to tow

         10  truck companies.

         11                 The mission of the agency is to

         12  create a marketplace in which honest businesses

         13  thrive and in which consumers can trust.

         14                 DCA takes calls from consumers with

         15  complaints. They were overcharged, the store

         16  wouldn't honor a return, the Home Improvement

         17  Contractor did a shoddy job.

         18                 DCA pursues all of those complaints

         19  trying to resolve the issue with the business, and

         20  when appropriate, obtain restitution for the

         21  consumer.

         22                 In part, DCA is able to resolve

         23  problems, because we license businesses. We can

         24  enforce the laws that require certain types of

         25  business behaviors.
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          2                 So, if a tow company tows your car,

          3  and overcharges you, we can use the administrative

          4  process to tell the company to play fair and return

          5  your money, or we will withhold your license.

          6                 In short, the license is used to

          7  ensure that businesses follow the law. Our

          8  experience is that we can most effectively act for

          9  consumers when we enforce against the licensed

         10  business. We believe that licensing providers of

         11  immigration assistance is the most effective method

         12  of enforcing disclosure requirements and legitimate

         13  business practices.

         14                 As the Commissioner pointed out, a

         15  consumer could easily obtain a list of licensed

         16  immigration service providers, or check on line to

         17  see if the provider they are thinking of using is

         18  licensed.

         19                 In addition, a licensing scheme could

         20  build in several features that might provide relief

         21  for consumers in the most dire circumstances, those

         22  fleeced by fly-by-night operators.

         23                 Such provisions include a bonding

         24  requirement, or a requirement that the business

         25  deposit money into a trust fund. The fund could be
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          2  used to reimburse the individual scammed, similar to

          3  the way the DCA administers the Home Improvement

          4  Trust Fund.

          5                 Alternatively a reasonable bonding

          6  requirement would discourage the shady proprietor

          7  from operating. The ability to shut an unlicensed

          8  immigration service provider, the providers would

          9  need to become licensed and comply with the

         10  disclosure requirements envisioned in this bill

         11  prior to gaining access to their establishment.

         12                 This would have the same effect of

         13  seizing the vehicle of an unlicensed contractor or

         14  tow truck operator. The unlicensed activity ceases,

         15  and the consumer is protected.

         16                 This proposal to license immigrant

         17  service providers would have added cost to

         18  administer the licensing requirement. But these

         19  would be covered by the licensing fee that could be

         20  included in such a proposal.

         21                 The Department is examining what

         22  these costs could be, should the Council decide to

         23  take this route.

         24                 In addition, we suggest that the

         25  Council consider adding another exemption to the
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          2  bill that you're considering. It's one used in

          3  Chicago to cover employers who provide immigration

          4  assistance to their employees.

          5                 To broaden the scope of services

          6  covered by the law, we suggest the phrase

          7  "information, guidance, or advice about" be added

          8  before the word "any proceeding, filing, or

          9  action..." in subdivision a of section 20-770. There

         10  also is a question about whether a private right of

         11  action can be created by local law, and we ask you

         12  to explore that.

         13                 Finally, we suggest a section in

         14  advertising be amended to track the Minnesota law

         15  requiring that advertisements in a language other

         16  than English, include in English, the required

         17  disclaimer that a provider is not an attorney.

         18                 We thank you for your consideration,

         19  and we'd be pleased to try and answer any questions

         20  you may have.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: At this time,

         22  I'd like to call on Councilman Barron.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

         24  much, Mr. Chair.

         25                 I'd like to ask you, I'm concerned
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          2  about the licensing part of it, very, very concerned

          3  about that. I want to know, how much does that

          4  legitimize those who probably ought not be in the

          5  business, and would you actually be creating the

          6  same kind of problem that you're trying to

          7  alleviate?

          8                 What I mean by that, if I can get

          9  through your licensing process, then I appear to be

         10  even more legitimate to the customer.

         11                 Now, I understand the conflict that

         12  we're having, but I'm just wondering whether

         13  licensing is the answer, and whether we need to see

         14  that we have lawyers that notice stuff and they are

         15  regulated already by the State, and other

         16  apparatuses, so I'm just wondering whether licensing

         17  would alleviate or celebrate, you know, exacerbate

         18  the problem. I want some more discussion on that.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: This is

         20  a field that has emerged. It's a field, people are

         21  providing this assistance, many of them are not

         22  doing it well, they're not living up to any

         23  standards, and that's part of what you're trying to

         24  address.

         25                 Licensing does legitimate businesses,
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          2  but if they're good businesses and they follow a set

          3  of practices that can be defined in the law, it's

          4  okay. And not every immigrant is going to go to a

          5  lawyer, they're going to go to non-profit service

          6  providers, which do a very, very good job. Some of

          7  them are going to go to a person in their community

          8  who comes from the region that they're from, speaks

          9  the dialect that they speak, and those are the

         10  people we want to capture with this. We want to make

         11  them legitimate, we want them to know what the laws

         12  of the United States are, for those people who are

         13  trying to do the right things that make errors, and

         14  those that aren't legitimate, we want to be able to

         15  close down. And we think licensing is the way to do

         16  that. I don't know.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: From our

         18  standpoint in the office, we feel that it's very

         19  hard to communicate clearly with immigrants who are

         20  limited English proficient and don't understand the

         21  laws. And having a very clearly defined list of

         22  providers is the easiest way to communicate to them,

         23  which businesses are the ones that are trustworthy

         24  and that have been validated by the City.

         25                 To have a set of other requirements
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          2  that the immigrants have to understand might just

          3  create more confusion.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I guess I need

          5  to hear more on what you would do to protect

          6  immigrants from those who can get a license. I mean,

          7  licensed electricians, licensed plumbers, we have

          8  car mechanics, we have doctors, lawyers, and they're

          9  able to still get over, and then it helps them

         10  getting over, it legitimizes them more when you can

         11  say to an immigrant, look, I'm on the list, you

         12  know, I'm licensed, and I'm just concerned about

         13  those that can get on that list and become more

         14  legitimized and do even more harm with the consumer

         15  of the immigrant, thinking that they're legitimate.

         16                 What would you have to protect that

         17  from happening in your licensing process?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well,

         19  if the Council had a willingness to discuss the

         20  licensing scheme, I think we would try to work with

         21  you to come up with some reasonable criteria that

         22  would separate the legitimate providers from the

         23  scamming providers.

         24                 The other thing that we mentioned in

         25  the testimony is replicating something that we do
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          2  very successfully with home improvement contractors,

          3  who can open a business very easily with a business

          4  card and a set of tools. We require them to pose

          5  either a bond or pay into a trust fund, and then

          6  trust fund is used to then compensate the person who

          7  is ripped off by a provider.

          8                 Having to put up some money, it

          9  removes some people who are just trying to do this

         10  on the fly. So that is one avenue to pursue, but we

         11  would be very interested in discussing with you sort

         12  of how to screen good from bad in a licensing law.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

         14  much, Mr. Chair. I'd just like my name to be added

         15  as a co-sponsor to 223.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I have to be

         18  excused.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes, we would

         20  like to take a pause now and call on Council Member

         21  Martinez. He is the sponsor of Reso 42, and I would

         22  like him to speak on that and also vote.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chair. And I want to apologize for my colleagues

         25  for my tardiness today. I got caught up in traffic.
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          2                 However, I do want to thank you for

          3  your leadership in helping bring this Reso 42 to the

          4  Committee.

          5                 As you know, this Reso sends a strong

          6  message in opposition to the temporary workers

          7  program that the Bush Administration is considering.

          8  Not only are we sending a strong message in

          9  opposition, but the fact that we're sending a

         10  message that this proposal is not only harmful for

         11  an immigrant, but it's also harmful for native, and

         12  it only benefits big corporations who will not only

         13  continue to abuse and explore immigrant workers.

         14                 This Committee is taking the lead and

         15  the City Council is taking the lead in sending a

         16  clear message to Washington that we need a permanent

         17  status for workers, and that we're not going to

         18  stand by and see an increase in the threat of human

         19  rights and dignity of immigrants being stepped on.

         20                 We cannot as a nation, who has a

         21  tradition of an open door policy, and a tradition of

         22  coming to the United States, not to commit crimes,

         23  not to commit terrorist acts, but to advance and

         24  raise a family, that's what this nation is known for

         25  in opening its doors to immigrants all over the
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          2  world. And I want to vote aye on the resolution. And

          3  I want to thank you, again, Chairman, for your

          4  leadership in ensuring that this resolution be

          5  spent.

          6                 I can also inform you that we're

          7  working in collaboration in Washington to assure

          8  that the democratic caucus in Washington presents an

          9  alternative permanent residency for workers bill,

         10  which hopefully we will be getting good news from

         11  Washington from our colleagues in Congress that are

         12  taking up the issue to ensure that a serious debate

         13  takes place on this matter.

         14                 I voted aye on the item, and I also

         15  have a question at the subject at hand now. I wanted

         16  to ask Commissioner from Consumer Affairs, who

         17  regulates the notary public in the City of New York,

         18  or in the State of New York?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: They're

         20  licensed by the Department of State.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: The

         22  Department of State?

         23                 Is there any collaboration between

         24  your agency and the newly administration -- the new

         25  Immigration Office for the City of New York, with
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          2  the Department of State in the regulation of notary

          3  public in the City of New York? And I'll tell you

          4  why. For many immigrants that come either from Latin

          5  America or from any other part of the country, third

          6  world country, the association between a notary

          7  public and a lawyer, it's made automatically. We

          8  assume immediately that if you're a notary public,

          9  you come from a legal background. We know that's not

         10  so, and many of these immigrants that do immigrant

         11  work, the first thing they place in their window is

         12  that they provide notary public service. We know

         13  that many legal documents that need to be notarized

         14  for immigration, they go automatically, people go

         15  automatically where they see the sign notary public,

         16  and we also find that these individuals are also the

         17  same that are charging the fees, these are the same

         18  individuals that are abusing, exploiting immigrants,

         19  because they don't know that's simply filling out a

         20  form.

         21                 Now, I was wondering, following the

         22  line of question that my colleague Council Member

         23  Charles Barron was questioning in terms of licensing

         24  and regulations, could some sort of a collaboration

         25  be established between the entity that regulates the
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          2  notary public and the Department of the City

          3  Consumer Affairs, to track the complaints from these

          4  individuals who are notary public, that are abused

          5  and exploited, so that we can take away their

          6  licensing or their right to be a notary public.

          7                 Because I mean, looking at it from a

          8  practical perspective, we could talk about

          9  licensing. But I don't think it's so much of an

         10  issue of licensing, I think we should be looking at

         11  who is doing this, and you'll find that a great

         12  number of who is doing this, in terms of exploiting,

         13  are notary public in the State of New York.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I

         15  understand your question completely.

         16                 I don't know if -- I mean, it should

         17  be possible to take complaints and refer complaints

         18  to the Department of State about notaries who are

         19  ripping people off. One of the reasons why we and

         20  immigrant affairs in the City are proposing a

         21  licensing scheme, is because in your proposal you

         22  suggested the Consumer Affairs Department do

         23  enforcement of this industry, and we actually do

         24  have enforcement agents, we have people who are out

         25  in the field sort of on a daily basis and we can
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          2  regulate in the area of the laws that we license or

          3  that are violations of the Consumer Protection Law.

          4                 We don't regulate the notary, the

          5  Department of State does. They do not have

          6  enforcement agents in the field, that makes it much

          7  harder for them than to come and crack down on

          8  people who are ripping people off. We could

          9  certainly look at something together using our

         10  information and their powers to withhold a license.

         11  But even doing that, I think you should still look

         12  at licensing immigrant service providers.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, I agree

         14  that we should look at licensing, but I think that

         15  maybe this is a question for Immigrant Affairs.

         16                 In terms of the literature that your

         17  office puts out in terms of warning individuals

         18  about these practices, is there some sort of survey

         19  that you put together in terms of, for us to get

         20  some information in terms of where to go? I know

         21  they go to a lot of travel agents. Wherever we see

         22  some sort of wording that will indicate that there's

         23  some sort of legal practice or that someone may be

         24  connected to being a lawyer or to the court, that's

         25  the first place that you'll find that an immigrant
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          2  goes to.

          3                 My question is, in the literature

          4  that you put together warning immigrants about these

          5  practices, is there some sort of survey that you put

          6  together in terms of trying to gather information

          7  from them? Where do they go? I know you, in your

          8  testimony you mentioned travel agents and usually we

          9  go through those who speak our language and so

         10  forth, but in the area of -- do they go to an

         11  individual lawyer, individual notary, individuals

         12  that put up signs that say "immigrant work" and so

         13  forth?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Well, the

         15  answer to that is that they go to anyone who

         16  promises them that they'll be able to do the job. I

         17  mean, what we hear mostly from the non-profit

         18  community folk is that they tend to often interact

         19  with a client after they have had a problematic

         20  situation with a private consultant.

         21                 I think it's very important, first,

         22  to talk about the fact that this group of people,

         23  the Notarios, are folks that cater in large part to

         24  the Spanish-speaking community, and if we're looking

         25  to address the parlances by the diverse immigrant
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          2  communities in New York City, they don't necessarily

          3  hold the Notarios in the same regard as folks from

          4  certain parts of the world do.

          5                 But addressing the notary public

          6  "problem" would be only addressing part of the

          7  problem.

          8                 I think the issue with licensing that

          9  a number of you have raised is important to

         10  understand that it just creates a mechanism for

         11  enforceability and public education, that the bill

         12  doesn't currently provide because people, from our

         13  experience with interacting with folk, first of all

         14  there is a very desperate situation where the person

         15  is undocumented and he's desperately trying to

         16  legalize. That's a very difficult situation for

         17  anyone to address, even if there is an enforceable

         18  bill in place, because people will, because they are

         19  so desperate, offer up as much money as they

         20  possibly can afford in the hopes that this person

         21  who is giving them a promise will be able to fulfill

         22  that promise.

         23                 But in the case of people who, you

         24  know, need a little bit of information in order to

         25  make a good choice, licensing allows the Department
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          2  of Consumer Affairs to have an enforceable

          3  mechanism. It allows the Office of Immigrant Affairs

          4  to have a mechanism by which to educate immigrants.

          5  So we can go out there and say this is where you

          6  will find a list of providers that you can use. We

          7  can talk to all the community organizations about

          8  publicizing that, it just makes it easier. At the

          9  moment when we get calls from individuals who are

         10  seeking assistance, we refer them to the New York

         11  Immigration hot line and some specific community

         12  organizations that we're used to working with, and

         13  we know that most of those organizations are already

         14  overburdened with work.

         15                 And there is also, you know,

         16  anecdotally we know that for cultural reasons many

         17  immigrants feel that they're getting a better

         18  service if they're paying a small fee. We hear this

         19  from a lot of individuals, as well from -- there is

         20  skepticism about these kind of free services that

         21  non-profits provide. So, some people will choose to

         22  go to a private provider anyway, and just based on

         23  the couple of years that we've been -- well, the

         24  many years that I've been an immigrant and part of

         25  an immigrant communities and couple of years that
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          2  we've been working on this in our office, we

          3  understand that there are going to be some very

          4  significant barriers to public education and

          5  forcibility without a fixed set of listed licensed

          6  providers, people that we can inform the public

          7  about, and a very specific way in which we can

          8  communicate that information to immigrants.

          9                 So, you know, I can't -- Commissioner

         10  Toole has talked about our ability to maybe talk to

         11  the Department of State, but from our perspective

         12  it's very important that we can clearly communicate

         13  to the thousands and millions of immigrants in New

         14  York City, which people they can go to for service.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Yes, but I

         16  would disagree with you in terms that the notary,

         17  it's more of a Latino or Latin immigrant that will

         18  make that connection, because if you realize that

         19  some immigration documents do need to be notarized,

         20  and whether you're Chinese, European, from whomever

         21  you come, if you're an immigrant and you're looking

         22  to change your immigration status, there are

         23  documents that need a notary.

         24                 So, the first place where the

         25  immigrant will tend to go, where, one, they provide
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          2  the notary service, and, two, they'll provide the

          3  service that they're looking for, seeking for in

          4  terms of filling out the application.

          5                 So, it's not that narrow, it's

          6  broader. And there you will find that a lot of these

          7  individuals use a notary status to capture their

          8  prey, and their prey is the immigrant that's not

          9  informed. So, I would really stress that it's not a

         10  Latino or a Latin-American immigrant. It's a broader

         11  issue -- many documents that you need to fill out,

         12  immigration status, you need to be notarized, the

         13  notary is the prey that they use to capture them and

         14  bring them into their business, and charge the

         15  outrageous fees that they do.

         16                 So, I strongly believe that there's

         17  some direct connection there, and if we can get some

         18  collaboration between the Department of State,

         19  Consumer Affairs and Immigration Affairs Office to

         20  see how we can monitor these individuals and take

         21  away their notary status, if they are in fact doing

         22  that.

         23                 My worry, even though I'm a sponsor

         24  with the bill, is that we know that the Consumer

         25  Affairs is an agency that monitors a lot, a lot of
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          2  consumer issues in the City of New York, that we put

          3  together something that's not going to be

          4  enforceable, because of manpower and so forth. And

          5  if we're going to go forward with licensing, we need

          6  to have a commitment, Commissioner, from the

          7  Administration, that they're going to put the

          8  dollars behind it for additional enforcement. And

          9  that's something that we need to hear from your

         10  office, in terms of making that commitment that

         11  we're going to get some dollars from the

         12  Administration, for enforcement of this licensing

         13  bill.

         14                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Before we call

         16  upon Mr. Phil Reed, I would like to recognize the

         17  chair of the General Welfare, Bill DeBlasio, and

         18  also Koppell from the Bronx.

         19                 Mr. Reed.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chair.

         22                 I think that the issues that are

         23  being raised here, on both sides actually, in your

         24  testimony about licensing and certainly the concerns

         25  of advocates, like Council Member Martinez, he's an
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          2  advocate and a Council member. And I think they're

          3  very useful and we want to hear from the advocates

          4  who are here about all these issues. But I don't

          5  think that we can't do both things. I think that we

          6  could pass this Intro today, or soon, and then look

          7  at the issue of licensing. I don't think one

          8  excludes the other. I think this is the first good

          9  effort that should be put forward and we should

         10  debate and continue to discuss the issue of

         11  licensing.

         12                 I'm appreciative of two of the issues

         13  specifically around our ability, the City's ability

         14  to take unlicensed people to court and get that

         15  adjudicated. We've discussed it many times in the

         16  Consumer Affairs Committee. The point being, to my

         17  colleagues, that if they are licensed, it has more

         18  ability to get some adjudication in court than if

         19  they are not licensed and they violated Consumer

         20  Affairs laws, regulations.

         21                 I think that's significant, but I

         22  think the points that are being raised about

         23  enforcement, others, are also important,

         24  particularly this issue around the notary. I find it

         25  endlessly fascinating, and it happens in all
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          2  communities, that people within their own

          3  communities will prey on their own people. It's

          4  fascinating. It's despicable but it is endlessly

          5  fascinating, that the people you think you should

          6  trust through custom, et cetera, et cetera, are the

          7  very ones who are quite likely to be looking for you

          8  to walk in the door.

          9                 So, I would encourage us to move

         10  forward on this legislation.

         11                 Part of the reason why there was so

         12  much back and forth here is, what is the reason why

         13  we're not licensing, why shouldn't we do this? But I

         14  do think it's an important discussion. I don't think

         15  it should prevent us from being able to do this

         16  legislation.

         17                 Also, and maybe I missed it in the

         18  testimony, but has the City offered any sort of

         19  training to people who have come forward to want to

         20  offer these services? Or do we know that any of the

         21  not-for-profit groups have offered training?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: The Department

         23  of Youth and Community Development funds legal

         24  services that are offered by non-profits, but we

         25  haven't trained private individuals. What we have
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          2  done, our office has worked with the City University

          3  of New York to provide some training to the staff

          4  members of State, of elected officials at the state

          5  level, and I think are planning to do it for City

          6  officials, because a lot of your district offices

          7  get questions from individuals. But we haven't done

          8  anything for a private provider.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Do you think that's

         10  something that we might look into doing?

         11                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: I think we

         12  could look into it. I guess I'm not sure whether

         13  that would be within the scope of work within our

         14  office, but certainly there may be others at the

         15  City or State level that can assist.

         16                 We, as I said, refer people to folks

         17  who are licensed by the fear of immigration appeals,

         18  and that's right now, they're credited by the BIA

         19  because that is the best mechanism that we have in

         20  place. We don't refer anyone to a private

         21  individual.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The BIA is Bureau

         23  of Immigrant Affairs?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Bureau of

         25  Immigration appeals.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Appeals, okay. Just

          3  a moment.

          4                 Yes, our Counsel points out that we

          5  have had a lot of regulations around tax

          6  preparation, tax preparedness, and they now have to

          7  do very similarly what we're discussing, they have

          8  to post the fact that particularly these rapid

          9  refunds loans, you have to post notices about the

         10  fact that you could get the same amount of money

         11  within a ten, two-week period of time, you wouldn't

         12  have to pay these exorbitant amount of interest

         13  rates, et cetera, et cetera.

         14                 And the Department of Consumer

         15  Affairs, it is true, has said that they've had great

         16  success with that legislation. Those tax repairs are

         17  not licensed.

         18                 So, I guess the issue is that there's

         19  perhaps a contradiction in the sense that here's a

         20  group that we don't license, we've put these similar

         21  legislation in place we're talking about today,

         22  we've had success. Why can't we use that as a model?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well, I

         24  think the Department has said we've been very

         25  successful in disseminating the taxpayer bill of
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          2  rights, which include the disclosure requirements

          3  about rapid refunds.

          4                 There is a severe limitation, because

          5  no one licenses tax preparers. Not the State, not

          6  the City. You could, or I could, which God help us

          7  all, go out and become a tax preparer tomorrow. I

          8  could give you as an official from the Consumer

          9  Affairs Department the Taxpayer Bill of Rights, you

         10  could post the signs. That's your obligation.

         11                 It is hard to enforce the tax

         12  preparer bill of rights in the RAL (phonetic)

         13  disclosures because there's no list of who is there.

         14  You don't know who is following the law and who is

         15  not. You have to work very, very hard to disseminate

         16  that information into the community.

         17                 We think we've done a good job

         18  because we've put a lot of emphasis on it.

         19                 We don't regulate that business.

         20  Perhaps we ought to. It would make the scheme of

         21  enforcement a lot easier, and expedite that for

         22  people who are defrauded. I think we're looking at

         23  this as a new industry that has developed in the

         24  City, and, you know, certainly in the United States

         25  and Canada and the UK and all of those other places,
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          2  the governments tend to move toward registration and

          3  licensing, I think in part so they can get a handle

          4  on providing information to those people in the

          5  easiest possible way and enforcing against people

          6  who are not doing a good job.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, thank you. I

          8  think we will continue to have this dialogue about

          9  the licensing. I'm a sponsor of Intro. 223 and look

         10  forward to it passing the Council. I think we can

         11  take things step by step.

         12                 It's an issue that I'm sure in

         13  Consumer Affairs we'll want to address again.

         14                 Council Member Stewart, I apologize,

         15  but I have to go and attend to some other Council

         16  business. But Deborah Brown, our Counsel to the

         17  Committee will be here, and we will confer later.

         18  Thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you.

         20                 Commissioners, I want to go back to a

         21  couple of things that you have said.

         22                 You had said awhile ago that in the

         23  case of a licensed contractor, you can seize the

         24  vehicle. What can you seize if you were to license

         25  the immigration -- what would you be able to seize.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I think

          3  you could padlock the office.

          4                 I think it's an unlicensed contractor

          5  whose vehicle we could seize. And if they were

          6  unlicensed immigrant service provider, you could

          7  potentially padlock the office, thus preventing,

          8  depending on how the Council drafted the law, thus

          9  preventing that provider from continuing to rip

         10  people off.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: But a lot of

         12  these folks right now, they move from place to

         13  place. Sometimes they don't have a stationary

         14  office. They do the work and they may not have a

         15  stationary office. I just want to know what would

         16  you seize in that case, if they were unlicensed and

         17  we were to pass a law to license such folks to

         18  provide that service?

         19                 Some of them, they worked what we

         20  call independent contractors moving from place to

         21  place, they may be working out there for a travel

         22  agent office. So, it's not their office, so you

         23  can't padlock that office.

         24                 They might be working out of a barber

         25  shop, whatever. Any place that they can get these
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          2  folks to come to them, what would you be able to

          3  seize.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well, I

          5  don't know the answer to that. That's why we put it

          6  as a suggestion, and we were thinking of it in terms

          7  of padlocking premises. Might not work. There might

          8  be no protection for people who are being ripped

          9  off, but that was just our suggestion.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: The other

         11  question. In terms of licensing, would there be

         12  specific training that one would have to go through

         13  and then you would have to take an exam, pass that

         14  exam, and then get your license?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: That

         16  certainly could be required. The licenses that we

         17  administer, the Home Improvement Contractor, for

         18  example, there is an examination that licensed

         19  contractors have to pass, and it's not about how

         20  well they're going to pass through your walls or do

         21  their trades, but it is about the business practices

         22  that they have to follow, including using a contract

         23  that could be cancelled up to a few days later. That

         24  kind of requirement could certainly be built into a

         25  licensing law for the immigration service providers.
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          2                 I mean, the Home Improvement

          3  Contractor Law is a law that the Council created,

          4  and it's a different field, I understand that, but

          5  there certainly are things there that could be

          6  tailored to this industry.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I see that we

          8  have a lot of discussions on this, and, so, we would

          9  be communicating. But at this time I have the Chair

         10  of the General Welfare, Mr. DeBlasio, who has a few

         11  questions.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         13  Mr. Chairman.

         14                 I, first of all, want to thank you,

         15  again, for your leadership on a whole range of

         16  immigration issues, and specifically your leadership

         17  in introducing Intro. 223, which I think wherever

         18  the legislative path leads us, I think this is

         19  exactly what New York City needs to do, and we

         20  needed to do it actually quite awhile ago, and

         21  thanks to your leadership we're moving forward now.

         22                 So, I very much want to commend you,

         23  and thank you to both of our witnesses, who I know

         24  do this work every day and are trying to defend the

         25  rights of immigrants and all New Yorkers.
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          2                 Let me ask you two questions, or two

          3  types of questions based on sort of how things are

          4  today, and how we hope them to be.

          5                 Currently, what is your sense of the

          6  amount of affordable and accessible legal assistance

          7  that immigrants can access at this moment? Is the

          8  supply of legal assistance sufficient? Is it

          9  affordable enough? Is it appropriate enough, is the

         10  appropriate type of legal assistance, or do we have

         11  a gap between what people need and what they can

         12  get?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Well, I think

         14  this would be a very subjective answer. I mean,

         15  because --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: We welcome

         17  that.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Because we're

         19  talking about affordable to whom, right? If we're

         20  talking about affordable to lower and middle-income

         21  immigrants, there is a general consensus that there

         22  is a lack of affordable legal assistance.

         23                 So, you know, we know that legal

         24  service providers -- that there is a demand for

         25  additional affordable legal service providers.
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          2                 In terms of, again, the private

          3  service provider, it's just very hard to gauge that.

          4  On an average lock in a community where there are a

          5  large number of immigrants, you know, every other

          6  business is advertising its availability for

          7  immigration assistance. So, what those fees are,

          8  what you're trying -- the stories we hear about are

          9  the most horrid stories, the ones in which people

         10  have got paid thousands of dollars, and in pretty

         11  dire circumstances, before they start to file some

         12  sort of complaint. So, it's just very hard to give

         13  you an accurate answer. Because it's so subjective

         14  depending on what service is being provided.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Actually, I

         16  welcome a subjective answer, because I think we're

         17  talking -- I mean, you two are experts. It is not

         18  something I am assuming someone has exhaustively

         19  surveyed. There is no such thing as an objective

         20  answer here. I think as policy makers would do, we

         21  have to do our best to understand the circumstances

         22  facing immigrants in this City, and my assumption

         23  would be that there is not a sufficient supply of

         24  affordable legal services.

         25                 By the way, you could say that about
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          2  the general population. I would assume it's even

          3  more of a radical problem in terms of immigrants.

          4  So, we're not talking about, because I think the

          5  bill really focuses on the difference between people

          6  can provide legal services, and people can't provide

          7  legal services, and trying to make that line clear

          8  again, because it's been so thoroughly blurred. I

          9  know I think as Chair Stewart said and I think

         10  Miguel Martinez just said, this is a problem of

         11  people claiming they all provide a service that they

         12  really can't provide.

         13                 So, I'm just wanting to get

         14  confirmation that two experts, that in fact, in your

         15  opinions, there is not enough quality and affordable

         16  legal service available to immigrants in this City.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Yes, I would

         18  agree with that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Okay.

         20                 Now, let me talk to you about also

         21  what people do currently, because this will guide us

         22  also as we work with you on this legislation in the

         23  future.

         24                 You mentioned that 311 is an outlet

         25  for people seeking to report an instance of fraud or
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          2  some other type of complaint, and you mentioned the

          3  hot lines of some of the immigrant-focused

          4  organizations have. But, again, in your opinion, are

          5  we reaching, you know, the majority of people who

          6  need to report something? My assumption is,

          7  beginning with language barriers and cultural

          8  barriers, and lack of information flow, that the

          9  tragedy here is that people are going through fraud,

         10  and going through all sorts of other negative

         11  experiences day in and day out, don't know their

         12  rights, and even if they had a sense of their rights

         13  wouldn't know who to turn to in the government,

         14  which is not to say 311 isn't a good thing, or the

         15  hot lines aren't a good thing, but don't you assume

         16  that the vast majority of cases, or a significant

         17  number of cases are going unreported right now.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: The

         19  significant number of fraud cases. I mean, again,

         20  subjectively I would say yes, especially if the

         21  person is undocumented.

         22                 I think if the person has some kind

         23  of legal status and has just been waiting for a long

         24  time, they're more likely to report. But if they

         25  have no legal status, they're less likely to
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          2  interact, certainly with a government authority to

          3  report.

          4                 I just want to give you an idea. We

          5  get the figures from 311 indicate that there have

          6  been about 1,200 calls between January 1 and March

          7  30th for immigration assistance. And there's 1,200

          8  calls referred out to a government hot line so it's

          9  citizenship, the State citizenship hot line or the

         10  New York Immigration Hot Line, which is state

         11  funded.

         12                 Only 60 of those calls I believe have

         13  come to our office, because they're for people who

         14  have been waiting an unduly long time for the

         15  application. So, these 1,200 calls that get referred

         16  to non-profit or government hot lines, potentially

         17  are calls that could go to private providers, you

         18  know, and that would take some of the burden off of

         19  the non-profit. That's really, that's one figure we

         20  have. We also as an office dealt with about 8,000

         21  inquiries last year for pending immigration -- or we

         22  got 8,000 inquiries, not all of them were included

         23  that we could handle. But, you know, those are the

         24  kinds of figures that we're talking about.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: But they're
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          2  focusing on the fraud issue, and, again, I'm

          3  assuming it is 1,200 calls, not all those were

          4  reports of fraud.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: No.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Do you have

          7  a breakout of what --

          8                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Actually, all

          9  of those were for immigration assistance.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Assistance.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Yes, not for

         12  fraud. Because the fraud calls would either -- the

         13  fraud complaints that we've gotten have usually come

         14  directly to our office, and often it's not from the

         15  individual who has had the problem, often it's

         16  through someone else in the community.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Between the

         18  two agencies, do you have some count? And I guess

         19  you might say that State and federal agencies might

         20  have a role as well, of what the annual reporting

         21  figures are for fraud or activities that immigrants

         22  experience?

         23                 I mean, again, obviously if there is

         24  any way to gather that, that's helpful to us, but I

         25  think the point is, if you say that we don't have
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          2  that even for documented folks, and we have to

          3  assume, as you said, that for undocumented there's a

          4  much greater problem, I mean it suggests that, and,

          5  again, I'm borrowing from what Chair Stewart has

          6  told me over time, that this is a very extensive

          7  problem that sort of exists below the surface of

          8  most of our governmental activity, and it suggests,

          9  to begin with, this type of legislation, and/or

         10  licensing. But beyond that, it suggests having to

         11  develop a true enforcement mechanism. My assumption

         12  right now is that the State and federal government

         13  do very little in enforcement on fraud issues, and

         14  I'm assuming it devolves down to the locality,

         15  unfortunately. Even though one could argue that it

         16  really should be the federal government's

         17  responsibility; is that probably a fair assumption?

         18                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: We know that

         19  the Attorney General's Office has done a number of

         20  investigations. So, you know, that's the extent of

         21  our knowledge, and interaction with another

         22  government entity.

         23                 I just want to emphasize again, I

         24  think as much as we were talking about licensing as

         25  an enforceable, mechanism for enforceability that
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          2  the public education piece of it is very, very

          3  important.

          4                 Because in reality, that once the

          5  legislation is passed, that unless the millions of

          6  folks who are, you know, likely to be exploited, if

          7  they don't understand what the law is, then they're

          8  still going to continue to be exploited, because

          9  most of them will respond to whoever is promising

         10  them whatever it is that they need.

         11                 That's just a very important piece of

         12  this, and that is my, you know, concern from our

         13  office's standpoint, our concern about the

         14  legislation, that it's very hard for the individual

         15  immigrant to understand what are the pieces, of the

         16  puzzle are, that the person who is providing them

         17  the service has to be able to put into place for

         18  them. And that's a very profound concern that I have

         19  about the enforceability or the implication and

         20  impact of a law that is not clear for people to

         21  understand, people who we know already have a very

         22  hard time understanding immigration law.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Well, I'll

         24  just conclude by saying, I think that barring from

         25  your point, one part of this is public education,
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          2  one part of this is having a law that's strong

          3  enough, and another part of this is enforcement. I

          4  think the challenge for all of us is going to create

          5  a dynamic where each immigrant understands their

          6  rights, and each service provider understands their

          7  responsibility and believes that there is an

          8  accountability mechanism so they don't think, as I

          9  think it's fair to gather from what you said today,

         10  they don't think they could pretty much get away

         11  with what they want and have very little chance of

         12  anyone catching them or doing something about it.

         13                 I mean, I think we have to put all of

         14  these pieces of the puzzle together, and, again, I

         15  thank Chair Stewart, because I think moving this

         16  legislation is a key part of that.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Commissioners,

         19  before I let you go and call the next panel, my

         20  concern is about enforcement, and you mentioned

         21  license and you said that you'd be able to have some

         22  sort of a control. Now, what type of control would

         23  you have for those folks who did not get the

         24  licensing, and they continue to do this practice,

         25  have this practice?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: They

          3  would be issued a violation for unlicensed activity,

          4  if they operated out of a premise and depending on

          5  how you all wrote the laws, they were continued with

          6  their unlicensed activity, for two times you could

          7  padlock their establishment. There are -- the

          8  penalties that you've written into this bill could

          9  be enforced, so they would have to pay the fines.

         10  All of those things would become much more

         11  effective.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you.

         13                 I want to thank you for your

         14  testimony. And we would continue this dialogue to

         15  make sure we have a bill that is agreeable to

         16  everyone. Because this is the bill that is really

         17  needed in the City of New York to protect the

         18  immigrants, protect folks who have just arrived, and

         19  may not understand some of the practices that we do

         20  here but we need to be protected nevertheless.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Thank

         23  you. And we would also note, protect those honest

         24  businesses that are trying to do a good job and

         25  distinguish them from the bad ones. So, thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right.

          3                 The next panel will be Reverend

          4  Rollin J. Darbouzy, from CAP; and Reverend, please

          5  state your name and you may begin.

          6                 REVEREND FRITCH: Good morning. My

          7  name is Pastor Bob Fritch. I'm Senior Pastor of Our

          8  Saviour Lutheran Church in Jamaica, Queens. We are

          9  the largest Lutheran congregations in the Borough of

         10  Queens, and one of the largest immigrant Lutheran

         11  congregations in the United States. We have people

         12  from 26 different nations of origin in our

         13  congregation.

         14                 As pastor to a largely immigrant

         15  congregation, I am constantly being bombarded by

         16  story after story of abuse by so-called immigration

         17  service providers in the City, as people struggle to

         18  desperately navigate the maze of immigration law,

         19  they are easy prey, unscrupulous practitioners.

         20                 Those who are victimized have little

         21  recourse at this time and will generally not follow

         22  through with any action against someone who has

         23  abused them because they are either too scared of

         24  the threat of deportation, or have been threatened

         25  with deportation by the practitioner themselves.
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          2                 The stories that I have laid out in

          3  my written piece are but a few that demonstrate the

          4  dire need for some sort of regulation to be put in

          5  place for those who are providing immigration

          6  services.

          7                 This Intro. No. 223, which we are

          8  talking about today, is a good first step towards

          9  those regulations designed to protect the silent

         10  ones in our society, those who are recent

         11  immigrants.

         12                 The stories include stories of

         13  disappearing service providers, those who take the

         14  money and run, stories of service providers charging

         15  for things that they need not be charged for.

         16  Overcharging, forcing people to pay for services

         17  that they do not need, or even, in some cases,

         18  charging a membership fee which must be paid before

         19  services are rendered.

         20                 Other stories of providers claiming

         21  to have a "federal hot line" for quicker service,

         22  and the list goes on and on.

         23                 But perhaps the most rampant and

         24  devastating abuse comes in situations where good,

         25  hard-working people, people who are struggling to
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          2  attain what we call the American Dream, people who

          3  are literally at the end of their road, people who

          4  have been told by reputable attorneys that they have

          5  no more options to attain status in this country,

          6  that is when they begin to seek out someone, anyone,

          7  who will offer them hope.

          8                 It is at moments such as these that

          9  people in the immigrant community are the most

         10  vulnerable, and it is at this moment when service

         11  providers prey on their victims.

         12                 I encourage you to read their

         13  stories, I encourage you to listen to their unheard

         14  voices, I applaud you for taking the first step in

         15  regulating those who provide immigration counseling

         16  services, because the trail of devastating lives and

         17  lost savings accounts left in their wake must come

         18  to an end.

         19                 The bill which we debate today is a

         20  first step to end this very real and very

         21  devastating abuse.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 REVEREND DARBOUZY: My name is

         24  Monsignor Rollin J. Darbouzy, Pastor for the

         25  Innocence Church in Brooklyn (phonetic). Our church
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          2  is a member of the communication project CAP.

          3                 I have been living in Brooklyn since

          4  1969, ministering through the immigrant community of

          5  Crown Heights and Flatbush. I have heard some

          6  terrible stories of how unscrupulous people have

          7  taken advantage of hopeless immigrants.

          8                 During the time of the amnesty, I met

          9  a woman who told me how she spent over $10,000 with

         10  her lawyers and paralegals, losing all that money

         11  and now living in fear that they will denounce her

         12  to the immigration.

         13                 I have even met people that told me

         14  there are some so-called religious leaders, have

         15  taken a large amount of money from them, promising

         16  them to help the immigrant get a Green Card and end

         17  up losing the money.

         18                 I never kept records, but it is very

         19  often that I meet people in my office who tell me

         20  similar stories.

         21                 This practice continues even now,

         22  some opportunists are looking for ways to deprive

         23  people of their money.

         24                 While we understand how people are

         25  without shame, and take advantage of defenseless
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          2  people, we are convinced that the authority should

          3  take steps to prevent such things to perpetrate in

          4  our society.

          5                 Any piece of legislature that will

          6  protect the immigrants from not being taken

          7  advantage of will be a good step in the right

          8  direction.

          9                 I give my full support to the

         10  legislation number 223 being considered, knowing

         11  that it can only help the situation that is

         12  extremely bad. It comes a little bit late, but

         13  better late than never.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: This is an issue

         16  that has not been raised with the Commissioner from

         17  how the problems with some of the churches, in terms

         18  of trying to sponsor, and whether they are doing

         19  legitimate immigration work or not, in terms of what

         20  was mentioned.

         21                 There is quite a number of folks from

         22  within the religious institutions apply through the

         23  work we call "Religious Workers Program" but very

         24  few at least get through in terms of that program.

         25  And now that you mentioned that some of the
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          2  religious institutions take a lot of money from the

          3  parishioners I would like to address that in this

          4  bill, because I want to make sure that everyone is

          5  protected, and if it means then that whatever they

          6  do, they have to do it the legal way, the right way

          7  and not fraudulently take money from people without

          8  giving them any true hope.

          9                 I want to thank you for your

         10  testimony, and we will consider the aspects of the

         11  religious institutions program also.

         12                 The next panel, we have here Dan

         13  Smulian from New York Immigration Coalition; Kim

         14  Thuy Seelinger, Lutheran Family Community Services;

         15  and Johnny Kline, Community Action Project.

         16                 MR. SMULIAN: Good morning.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Just state your

         18  name.

         19                 MR. SMULIAN: Good morning. I'm Dan

         20  Smulian. I'm the Director of Training and Legal

         21  Services at the New York Immigration Coalition, and

         22  I'd like to thank both Committees of Consumer

         23  Affairs and Immigration for inviting me to speak and

         24  give testimony on Intro. 223.

         25                 The New York Immigration is an
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          2  umbrella policy and advocacy organization made up of

          3  over 150 organizations around New York State that

          4  work with immigrants and refugees.

          5                 We support the passage of Intro. 223,

          6  as a first and important step to protect members of

          7  the New York immigrant communities from misleading,

          8  abusive and unscrupulous practices when they seek

          9  assistance in immigration matters.

         10                 There is an overwhelming need for

         11  affordable immigration legal services in the City of

         12  New York. Not-for-profit providers cannot possibly

         13  meet the demands that exist given their current

         14  levels of funding, and I would like to make it very

         15  clear that the New York immigration coalition

         16  believes that the ultimate solution for this

         17  problem, it's for the City, the State and the

         18  federal government to provide adequate funding for

         19  non-profit legal services. That's why we urge the

         20  Mayor and the City Council to fully fund the

         21  Immigrant Opportunities Initiative at $5 million,

         22  part of which would support and expand the work of

         23  non-profit legal service providers.

         24                 Immigrants need legal services to

         25  navigate the complexities of the immigration system.
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          2                 Too often immigrants present with

          3  incorrect and misleading information, basic legal

          4  information and orientation is needed across the

          5  city, not only for individuals actively seeking

          6  help, but for the broader community, as well.

          7                 Lack of appropriate legal services

          8  and counseling may have dangerous consequences,

          9  because untimely, inappropriate and inaccurate

         10  applications can easily end deportation proceedings.

         11                 It would be great to have fully

         12  funded legal services for all.

         13                 However, this is not current reality.

         14  Given the huge demand and the dearth of options,

         15  many immigrants turn to immigrant assistance

         16  providers for help. Unfortunately, many of these

         17  providers hold themselves out as notarios, attorneys

         18  and other self-styled experts who charge fees, often

         19  exorbitant, for services they cannot legally or

         20  competently provide. They also often engage in

         21  misleading and unscrupulous business practices. The

         22  New York Immigration Coalition constantly hears

         23  horror stories involving the loss of large sums of

         24  money and ruined lives. There do exist, however,

         25  assistance service providers who do not seek to
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          2  misrepresent themselves, but could benefit from

          3  better business practices.

          4                 As this industry obviously exists,

          5  and will exist in the foreseeable future, it must be

          6  regulated for the protection of immigrant consumers.

          7                 Some may say that this regulation

          8  invites the unauthorized practice of law; however,

          9  the unauthorized practice of law is already

         10  occurring, it has not been checked by the laws

         11  currently on the books.

         12                 This bill will strictly limit the

         13  scope of permitted activity of assistance providers

         14  and provide tough new penalties to enforce those

         15  limits.

         16                 While I would like to make it crystal

         17  clear the New York Immigration Coalition

         18  categorically believes that these providers must not

         19  provide legal advice or legal services, they may

         20  have a limited role in the mechanical completion of

         21  forms. However, it is critical that consumers of

         22  these services be duly warned that the forms'

         23  preparers are not attorneys, or credited

         24  representatives, have no specialized knowledge of

         25  law and cannot provide legal advice or guidance.
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          2                 It is also critical that the

          3  assistance providers clearly set out their fees and

          4  the nature of services provided, and that immigrants

          5  and the City have a means to bring civil, criminal

          6  and criminal penalties and remedies to bear against

          7  abusive or misleading service providers.

          8                 Intro. 223 provides needed

          9  protection, not least of which is a very clear

         10  statement that providers cannot provide legal advice

         11  and cannot hold themselves out as attorneys.

         12                 This issue of having warnings is

         13  particularly important because I think that it will

         14  let people know that they're not in the hands of

         15  attorneys.

         16                 And finally, and importantly, Intro.

         17  223 will have teeth to ensure that its requirements

         18  and prohibitions will be heeded.

         19                 Violations of its provisions

         20  constitute class A misdemeanors. Violators of the

         21  law will also face civil penalties of up to $2,500

         22  for first violations and up to 5,000 for each

         23  succeeding violation. And finally, the harmed

         24  immigrant, him or herself, may sue the violating

         25  provider in court for propensatory and punitive
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          2  damages and attorneys' fees and injunctive relief.

          3                 Intro. 223 tackles the very serious

          4  problem of unscrupulous abusive immigration

          5  assistance service providers that prey upon

          6  undeserved and vulnerable immigrant communities.

          7                 Its disclosure requirements will give

          8  immigrants notice that they are not in the hands of

          9  persons who have legal training or can give them

         10  legal advice.

         11                 It will limit the practices of

         12  for-profit providers, gives new tools to government

         13  to curve existing practices, to provide the way for

         14  immigrants themselves who have suffered harm to seek

         15  redress.

         16                 For this reason, the New York

         17  Immigration Coalition urges the City Council to pass

         18  this important legislation.

         19                 Thank you very much for your

         20  consideration.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: In the interest

         22  of time, I would ask the witnesses here to limit

         23  your time to three minutes, because we have quite a

         24  number of other people who are going to be

         25  testifying, right? Because some of these information
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          2  that's usually given, it's information that we

          3  already have from some of the other witnesses. So,

          4  if you can limit it to three minutes, I'll

          5  appreciate it. Thank you.

          6                 Next.

          7                 MR. KLINE: Am I on?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes.

          9                 MR. KLINE: Good morning. My name is

         10  Johnny Kline. I'm an organizer at Community Action

         11  Project, or CAP. CAP is a faith-based organizing

         12  effort in Brooklyn. We work with about 15

         13  congregations to train the leaders of those

         14  congregations to take action in their communities on

         15  issues that are important to them.

         16                 We're grateful to be asked to give

         17  testimony on this topic, which is of great concern

         18  to our membership.

         19                 Our congregations are primarily

         20  located in Flatbush, Brooklyn, where there are a

         21  significant number of immigrants. In fact, over half

         22  the population of Flatbush was born outside the US.

         23  We've spoken one to one with many hundreds of

         24  residents in our community. It's hard to find anyone

         25  in that community who doesn't at least know of
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          2  someone who has been defrauded in efforts to

          3  navigate the nearly impossible maze of gaining legal

          4  status in this country.

          5                 Some of these illegitimate operators

          6  have claimed attorney credentials, some have claimed

          7  church credentials and some even claimed USCIS

          8  employment credentials.

          9                 All have promised much and taken

         10  nothing while taking thousands of dollars from the

         11  most vulnerable segment of our society. And since

         12  the events of September 11th, it seems that this

         13  scourge has increased significantly, due to the

         14  increased backlog and the increased desperation of

         15  the undocumented immigrant community.

         16                 CAP believes that Intro. 223 is an

         17  important first step in the process of eliminating

         18  immigration fraud. We're also pursuing the passage

         19  of SL 3314 in the New York State Senate, which would

         20  provide further regulation of this industry.

         21                 We're also lobbying for an

         22  immigration fraud education campaign that would

         23  include transit ads, brochures, community forums and

         24  media attention on the crime.

         25                 And, finally, when negotiating with
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          2  government agencies to create an immigration fraud

          3  hot line that would allow for the crime to be

          4  reported.

          5                 As has been said here previously, not

          6  only do victims not report the crime for fear of

          7  deportation, but it is even very hard to get them to

          8  tell their stories under any circumstances. That is

          9  why it is difficult to produce statistics that

         10  verify the degree to which this crime has spread.

         11                 CAP is currently involved in locating

         12  specific perpetrators and turning that information

         13  over to the authorities.

         14                 Monsignor Darbouzy, who spoke

         15  earlier, and myself sit here representing tens of

         16  thousands of recent immigrants in support of Intro.

         17  223. We also represent the other residents of

         18  Brooklyn, whose quality of life is threatened as

         19  long as immigration prod (sic) continues unabated,

         20  and we represent the many legitimate immigration

         21  service providers who competently help immigrants

         22  with their petitions. They should not be punished

         23  for the crimes of a few.

         24                 And, finally, we ask for your support

         25  in the other initiatives that I mentioned earlier,
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          2  as well as the passage of this Intro.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 MS. THUY SEELINGER: My name is Kim

          5  Thuy Seelinger, and I'm staff attorney at the

          6  Lutheran Family and Community Service Immigration

          7  Program.

          8                 In the interest of time, I'm not

          9  going to read you my statement. I would ask that you

         10  read it on your own time, and I will try to just

         11  emphasize a few of the things that I think are most

         12  important.

         13                 In addition to my normal caseload, I

         14  am responsible for performing a lot of community

         15  outreach in many of the districts represented by

         16  many of the members of these two committees. In

         17  those communities I provide Know Your Rights

         18  presentations, and also free confidential one-on-one

         19  consultations with immigrants who, many of whom come

         20  asking me to start the process for them, or give

         21  them some advice, and others come, many of them

         22  unfortunately come to ask me how they can fix a mess

         23  that was made by a prior consultant, who believed

         24  was an attorney, but upon a little investigation on

         25  my part or their part was not someone licensed to
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          2  practice law or give legal advice in the State of

          3  New York.

          4                 I had asked many people if they would

          5  come forward and testify today, but they, given

          6  their vulnerable status, were unwilling to do so, so

          7  I hope I'm an acceptable proxy.

          8                 I think maybe I will just summarize

          9  some of the stories that, or the types of abuses

         10  that have been reported to me, if that's useful to

         11  you.

         12                 Of course, first off is obviously the

         13  misrepresentation of license to practice law. That

         14  is why people pay $7,000, $8,000 to some hole in the

         15  wall operation, because they believe they're getting

         16  someone who is competent to represent them in front

         17  of the immigration service, or in some cases, in

         18  front of immigration court, and as you know, that is

         19  not what they are receiving, if they receive

         20  anything at all.

         21                 There is the problem of exorbitant

         22  fees, which you know about, and also unspecified

         23  services. Contracts are rarely written, and so when

         24  undisclosed and surprised fees come up later and

         25  later, it's very hard for immigrants to know what
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          2  the original arrangement was. And if at some point

          3  they found they are unwilling or unable to pay the

          4  fees, it becomes very ugly and they are either left

          5  out in the cold, without copies of the forms that

          6  are filed on their behalf, or they are threatened by

          7  the provider, as I think you heard Pastor Fritch

          8  mention.

          9                 There is widespread ignorance or

         10  misrepresentation of the law, which in some cases

         11  leads people to apply for benefits they are not

         12  eligible to receive, and in the best case scenario,

         13  all they're losing is their filing fee and perhaps

         14  some original documents. In the worst case, a lot of

         15  them can end up in deportation proceedings, and then

         16  they're really stuck and then there's often little I

         17  can do to help them.

         18                 Misfiling, nonfiling of applications

         19  leads to delay and denial, but also it does open

         20  some people up to fraud, because often times the

         21  applications themselves are completed without them

         22  being present. Sometimes they're asked to sign and

         23  then pay and get out of the office, what is actually

         24  mailed is completely out of their control.

         25                 Okay, please read the rest of my
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          2  statement. Okay, I had two specific suggestions of

          3  things we might want to add or think about in the

          4  legislation, but I'm out of time. You could ask me

          5  about that if you like, though.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Maybe you can

          7  just summarize the two things that you talked about.

          8                 MS. THUY SEELINGER: Sure.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Briefly.

         10                 MS. THUY SEELINGER: Very briefly.

         11  They're on the last page of my statement, and the

         12  first one is requiring oral transition of all papers

         13  filed on a client's behalf. Because it forces the

         14  provider to walk through the application and make

         15  sure the information is accurate, and also it

         16  protects people from submitting something that could

         17  open them up to fraud problems later. And also,

         18  secondly, require receipt for payment of services.

         19                 Most of these transactions are cash

         20  transactions because don't have checking accounts,

         21  don't have credit cards. They have no proof that

         22  they they've paid for unperformed services, and if

         23  you were really going to have a complaint system or

         24  enable them to go after these people, it helps to

         25  require that they received a receipt in the first
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          2  place.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Council Member

          4  Fidler.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chairman.

          7                 Ms. Seelinger, I had kind of read

          8  your testimony even before you got to the mic, and

          9  for me it was -- your top six abuses was a walk down

         10  memory lane for me, because I've heard them all and

         11  I've seen them all too many times.

         12                 And I just want to point out to my

         13  colleagues, you know, there are dire consequences

         14  when somebody fills out an asylum form that is

         15  frivolous, especially when it is being done to save

         16  the person preparing the document time and effort,

         17  because the person might have a legitimate asylum

         18  claim. And they don't get to hear their legitimate

         19  asylum claim. You know, in all cases, in all logical

         20  cases, the judge is going to bounce that

         21  application.

         22                 And that kind of gets to the first of

         23  your two recommendations, particularly the first

         24  one, which is requiring oral translation to the

         25  applicant's best language of the form. I have
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          2  witnessed in Immigration Court, when an immigration

          3  judge starts to question, as they often do directly

          4  the applicant, and the applicant stares back at them

          5  like, you know, I signed that? Or, no, that's not my

          6  case, that's not what it's about, and that's the

          7  first time that they find out that the papers that

          8  have been filed on their behalf are total fiction,

          9  and there's an extraordinarily dire consequence to

         10  that.

         11                 And, so, I hope as we move forward

         12  with passing this intro, and in that regard, Mr.

         13  Chairman, if I could be added as a sponsor, and I

         14  will tell you why I wasn't to begin with in a

         15  moment.

         16                 These two recommendations, which I

         17  think are extraordinarily pertinent and relevant, I

         18  was hesitant at first in putting my name on this

         19  because I felt it was maybe perhaps a conflict of

         20  interest in the sense that I, for so many years,

         21  practiced as an attorney in this area, and, you

         22  know, would it be looked at as I'm trying to knock

         23  the competition out of the box. But having had an

         24  opportunity to read the provisions of this bill, I

         25  don't think they're asking anyone to do anything
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          2  that is absolutely fair that any legitimate

          3  non-attorney provider wouldn't be willing to do, an

          4  extra step or two, a little extra work, but I think

          5  they would -- and I will say this as well, in the

          6  practice of law I had many relationships over the

          7  years with non-attorney providers who were

          8  responsible and who knew when a certain matter was

          9  beyond the form that they had to fill out, reached

         10  out to a licensed attorney, you know, you've got to

         11  go here because I can't do this. I can't represent

         12  you.

         13                 So, I think those people that are

         14  reputable will have no problem complying, you know,

         15  with this law, and, so, having looked at it, I would

         16  like to be added as a sponsor of it. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: So be it.

         18                 Mr. DeBlasio, do you have any

         19  questions?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: No.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 MS. THUY SEELINGER: Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I have just

         25  one question for Counsel. Excuse my ignorance. When
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          2  classifying this as a class A misdemeanor, and then

          3  I see we go on to civil penalties, class A

          4  misdemeanors are also punctual with jail time up to

          5  a year, so we're not excluding that as a penalty

          6  because there are some people who, you know, the

          7  money won't matter, they're going to have to be put

          8  in jail. Okay, thank you.

          9                 MS. THUY SEELINGER: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Next we have

         11  Deborah Notkin, and also we have Norberto Terrazas.

         12  Just keep in mind that we are pressed for time, you

         13  have three minutes.

         14                 State your name and you may begin.

         15                 MS. NOTKIN: I'm Deborah Notkin, and

         16  I'm the first Vice President of the American

         17  Immigration Lawyers' Association, and an admitted

         18  member of the Bar in New York State.

         19                 I won't read my whole statement and

         20  I'll try to keep to three minutes. We think the

         21  intent of this bill and the things that have been

         22  said in this hearing are excellent. We are concerned

         23  that the bill does not go far enough because it

         24  explicitly does not acknowledge what services are

         25  permissible by people who are not providers
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          2  authorized under federal law.

          3                 Providers authorized under federal

          4  law are licensed attorneys and state certiores, or

          5  they are voluntary agencies authorized under the

          6  Board of Immigration Appeals in its federal law.

          7  These are the only people that are allowed to give

          8  immigration advice.

          9                 So, we have to really look at what is

         10  immigration advice. Is it selecting a form for

         11  somebody? Is it helping fill out the form? Maybe

         12  not. But when someone comes in and says I need a

         13  Green Card, what happens when an immigration

         14  provider says this is your form? That is considered

         15  the practice of law.

         16                 The General Consul of the Former

         17  Immigration and Naturalization Service issued a

         18  memorandum on this subject, which is contained in

         19  Exhibit A. I have some exhibits I would like to

         20  leave with you, there are just, you know, a lot of

         21  them, but I think they would be helpful. The

         22  memorandum states that a selection of a form to seek

         23  an immigration benefit is indeed the practice of

         24  law. If advising on what form to file is the

         25  unauthorized practice of law, is there anything
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          2  notarios or immigration consultants are really

          3  authorized to do, except help somebody deal with

          4  possibly English language forms that they have

          5  already decided to file. This is the problem. And a

          6  couple of speakers have mentioned the filing of

          7  frivolous immigration forms, particularly asylum

          8  leads to deportation proceedings, and puts people in

          9  deportation, under orders of deportation, and this

         10  is going to get more dangerous because -- well, the

         11  Department of Homeland Security now has a program, a

         12  pilot program which is not yet in New York, but it's

         13  coming, that if you are in an immigration hearing

         14  and you don't prevail, you can be taken into custody

         15  on the spot, contained for a long time and

         16  ultimately deported.

         17                 In my opinion, the best way we can

         18  handle notarios and immigration service providers,

         19  is if someone puts themselves out, shut them down.

         20  We shut down people that deal in child porn - shut

         21  them down. And I think the way to start to handle

         22  the program is something that our Governor Pataki is

         23  starting to do. He had a press conference and he's

         24  been working with the voluntary agencies to

         25  publicize in various languages where people should
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          2  go and should not go to seek immigration counsel.

          3  They have funded some of the services in the

          4  immigration hotline with the Catholic charities.

          5  Funding is absolutely essential.

          6                 One last word, right now it's easy.

          7  Comparatively there are people that can help

          8  emigrate people for immigration benefits, because

          9  there's not enough real benefits around. This

         10  problem will need to be solved before we have

         11  comprehensive immigration reform, which I believe

         12  they will, because then there will be an

         13  overwhelming need, and if we don't shor up the

         14  voluntary agencies, the notorios are going to come

         15  out of the woodwork.

         16                 MR. TERRAZAS: Thank you. My name is

         17  Norberto Terrazas. I'm the counsel in charge of

         18  legal protection to Mexican citizens at the

         19  Consulate General of Mexico in New York. I thank you

         20  for the opportunity to speak to this Committee.

         21                 I want to refer to the complexity

         22  already that exists in the Immigration Nationality

         23  Act. We believe that in order to understand that

         24  law, you must have legal training and years of

         25  experience in order to better advise the people that
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          2  you're seeing.

          3                 There is a lot of confusion among my

          4  constituents in the Mexican Community, and this is

          5  dealing with the notarios.

          6                 In countries that follow the legal

          7  system, a notary public is not only a licensed

          8  attorney, but he's also a qualified and

          9  highly-trained lawyer with at least five years of

         10  experience. In Mexico, as well as in other

         11  Latin-American countries, a notary public must be

         12  admitted in its own professional bar. It is a

         13  profession highly regulated.

         14                 When a Mexican National sees a sign

         15  posted anywhere that our person is a notary public,

         16  he or she immediately associates the concept with an

         17  attorney. Culturally, it would take years to change

         18  that perception, because a notary in the legal

         19  tradition, in the Latin legal tradition, is someone

         20  who writes the law, and he was required to pursue a

         21  legal education.

         22                 The Mexican Consulate, honorable

         23  members, sees an average of about 400 Mexicans every

         24  day. Ninety percent of them are undocumented. Every

         25  week I receive in my office at least three or four
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          2  complaints of people who have been deceived, they

          3  have been swindled by notary public, trying to help

          4  them in order to process any kind of immigration

          5  papers. This notarios demands from their clients

          6  huge amounts of money, in the range of 2,000 to

          7  $10,000 for filing an application, an application

          8  which in many times is not even launched before the

          9  proper authorities. And what is the result of this?

         10  The hard-working Mexican immigrants are literally

         11  ripped off by unscrupulous people who are not

         12  accountable because they don't follow a code of

         13  ethics. Immigrants are misled to believe that their

         14  immigration status will be adjusted. It is

         15  outrageous that anyone would take advantage of an

         16  immigrant's legitimate dream to assimilate to this

         17  country, to discover later that this person was not

         18  qualified to help the immigrant, and in some

         19  instances has put the immigrant at risk of being

         20  removed from this country. Many conduct themselves

         21  in good faith and in an ethical manner, nonetheless,

         22  good faith and ethics are not enough if you do not

         23  master the law and are trained for that purpose.

         24  Then an innocent victim is damaged because of lack

         25  of knowledge of the law.
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          2                 My office continuously refers Mexican

          3  immigrants to different immigration attorneys for

          4  proper advice. There are a number of immigration

          5  attorneys who will not charge for a consultation and

          6  some others that will take a meritorious case on a

          7  pro bono basis.

          8                 There we have a guarantee that the

          9  immigrant is being well served and his rights are

         10  being protected.

         11                 I believe that any immigrant should

         12  be provided with the tools to make an informed

         13  decision.

         14                 We do believe that the informed

         15  decision should come from attorneys that specialize

         16  in immigration law. I thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I have one

         18  question. I get the impression that you're not in

         19  favor of having such services be provided unless

         20  that person is a lawyer.

         21                 MS. NOTKIN: That's not what I said.

         22  The voluntary agencies are also authorized under

         23  federal law, and they, although some of the better

         24  ones have some staff attorneys, they have the

         25  mechanisms to train people and they provide services
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          2  which people who are authorized with penalties that

          3  are not necessarily attorneys.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes. But I don't

          5  think you expect us to, most of the folks who are

          6  doing this, to get authorization from the federal

          7  government.

          8                 The services are so much in demand

          9  that something ought to be done. We can't outlaw

         10  completely that type of service by other people

         11  other than lawyers or people who are authorized by

         12  the federal government, so wouldn't you say that if

         13  someone has been trained, has been trained just in

         14  immigration matters. It may be a lawyer, but

         15  training them in immigration matters, be given a

         16  license to do this type of work.

         17                 For example, you have legal aid.

         18  They train them to become a legal aid, and they fill

         19  out a lot of papers, they do a lot of stuff, they do

         20  a lot of things as a legal aid. Why couldn't the

         21  same analogy be used for someone who is doing

         22  immigration matters?

         23                 MS. NOTKIN: Well, let me remind you,

         24  legal aid is always headed up by immigration consul

         25  to train paralegals.
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          2                 I'll tell you what I know, and I know

          3  it's a problem, and I think that the Bar, my

          4  association, as both attorneys that work for -- that

          5  are with the private bar also working in voluntary

          6  agencies. The problem is immigration law is ever

          7  changing, and it's actually even in private law

          8  firms, it's a paralegal-intensive area. But things

          9  change from week to week, month to month, attorneys

         10  have to go through CLEs, and while I'm not saying

         11  that only attorneys can do this kind of work, I

         12  think in general there has to be a mechanism where

         13  attorneys are involved in organizations that do this

         14  work.

         15                 I know from my paralegals, I have to

         16  have a class with them every week after I read

         17  things on the Internet at night, to make sure they

         18  know this has changed, this has changed, you can't

         19  do this anymore, and while an attorney looks at

         20  everything that goes out, we have people who aren't

         21  attorneys helping to fill out forms, they are given

         22  classes every week, and the problem is, I've seen

         23  paralegals who have worked for attorneys go off on

         24  their own and for the first six months have given

         25  excellent services, but don't have the mechanism to
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          2  keep themselves educated and start screwing up.

          3                 I've seen organizations, besides the

          4  really unscrupulous notarios that charge far more

          5  fees than most attorneys would charge, and they

          6  don't charge it up front. I've seen organizations

          7  that are well meaning make bad mistakes because they

          8  don't have the mechanisms to keep up with the law.

          9  It's complex.

         10                 And furthermore, I think that you

         11  have a problem, even if you say, well, people could

         12  do it who are not under these federal laws. This may

         13  be preempted under federal law, because federal law,

         14  it's federal law, and federal law dictates who is

         15  allowed to practice those laws. So I think that is a

         16  very complex and problematic area. I acknowledge

         17  that there's got to be a lot of cooperation on

         18  working on how to make sure people are educated,

         19  where to go and that we expand the services for

         20  people.

         21                 But I don't think stand-alone

         22  immigration service providers are going to be a good

         23  solution, even when they're well meaning.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I don't know if

         25  I've got the right answer, but nevertheless, I'll
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          2  ask my colleague Lew Fidler, he may have a couple of

          3  questions.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Yes, good

          5  afternoon.

          6                 First, I guess in the interest of

          7  fair and full disclosure, I should point out that my

          8  own firm, Roberts and Fidler, was a member of the

          9  Immigration Lawyers Association, and that I'm of

         10  Counsel to Roberts, Fidler and Mirasol, which is

         11  probably still a member. So, I just want that out

         12  there, I don't want any secrets.

         13                 You know, I kind of want to follow-up

         14  with what Dr. Stewart was saying and let's try and

         15  be fair, there are lawyers who don't keep up with

         16  their practice and there are lawyers who are

         17  unethical. I think we probably all have heard of the

         18  -- I forget the name of the practitioner who was

         19  taking money, large sums of money for immigration

         20  applications and then informing immigration that

         21  their client was eligible for deportation, figuring

         22  that they would be gone before they could make a

         23  complaint. You know, and there's a mechanism to

         24  police that. So, there are good and bad in all

         25  categories.
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          2                 There simply aren't enough authorized

          3  providers volunteer agencies. We hear from them in

          4  the Council all the time. Not everyone has the means

          5  to go to Barsta Mucamol (phonetic) --

          6                 MS. NOTKIN: That's my firm.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Yes, I know, I

          8  read your resume.

          9                 And to seek out that kind of advice.

         10  You know, and I think what we're talking about here

         11  is a question of degree. It doesn't take a great

         12  deal of expertise to fill out a citizenship

         13  application, and you know, don't we really kind of

         14  wink? You know, the law says you can't provide legal

         15  advice. That's the law, and I would submit to my

         16  colleagues that there is a certain amount of

         17  preemption in what we're doing and we can't

         18  authorize people to do something the federal

         19  government says we cannot, and they have absolute

         20  jurisdiction of who may appear in front of whatever

         21  the INS is called these days, but don't we kind of

         22  wink and say, you know, we're letting you do some

         23  stuff that we know you're really not supposed to do,

         24  because there just isn't -- there aren't enough

         25  agencies and attorneys to provide that kind of help?

                                                            93

          1  IMMIGRATION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 MS. NOTKIN: What do you mean we just

          3  wink? We can't wink. It's a problem, and it becomes

          4  a big problem every time there's a legislative

          5  change.

          6                 But the other problem is, you know, a

          7  naturalization application is probably the easiest

          8  procedure, but what we're really dealing with, and

          9  people who are doing naturalization applications

         10  generally aren't desperate because they're already

         11  permanent residents, what we're really dealing with

         12  here is people who are here undocumented, whose kids

         13  have been here since two, whose kids can't get a

         14  driver's license now, who can't go to college, and

         15  they're desperate for Green Cards. And permanent

         16  resident practice gets more and more complicated,

         17  even in the family area where you have to sign a

         18  binding affidavit of support.

         19                 They're upping the ante. It's gotten

         20  worse since September 11th because of all the

         21  soundbites and hysteria about the immigrants from

         22  the Middle East that flew into the Trade Center. So,

         23  I think that naturalization isn't a good analogy

         24  here, and the problem is it gets more complicated,

         25  and the problem is I think the voluntary agencies,
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          2  the private bar and the City have together, get

          3  together and work out how we can do it.

          4                 I do not agree that stand-alone

          5  immigration service providers are going to be a good

          6  solution, even for those that are well meaning.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Council Member

          9  Koppell, do you have any questions?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I just want to

         12  apologize for having to leave. I have people waiting

         13  for me downstairs since 12:00, but I do hope to

         14  continue to be involved in the evolution of this

         15  legislation so we can get a bill that really will

         16  address an important area. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you. Thank

         18  you for your testimony.

         19                 We have to call now Reverend Terry

         20  Lee, Dr. Michelle Berry and Joan LaPierre, Terrence

         21  LaPierre.

         22                 All right, you can just state your

         23  name and begin.

         24                 MS. LAPIERRE: Good morning. My name

         25  is Joan LaPierre, and I'm not going to read my
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          2  testimony after hearing everyone else testimony, and

          3  it's basically going to boil down to this end here

          4  where I listened to Kendall Stewart just now, asking

          5  if there's some kind of training that we, small

          6  facilities, can be able to get in order to conduct

          7  information to immigrants who have been trying to

          8  get information and can get from legal attorneys

          9  that cause so much fees, and we small facilities can

         10  be able to do something to that effect to help them.

         11                 I'm representing the East Flatbush

         12  area with my people in my community who has been

         13  ripped off, and I'm looking to see if we can get

         14  some kind of system to conduct this kind of

         15  training.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 MR. LAPIERRE: Good morning. My name

         18  is Terrence LaPierre, and I'm from East Flatbush. I

         19  have a business on Avenue D. I've been there for the

         20  past 23 years. In 1993, we were trained by INS and

         21  Immigration to do the test. That is before

         22  Immigration started doing the tests now. Many of my

         23  employees went to California where they were trained

         24  in immigration work with INS, and we also were

         25  trained by Immigration to do the fingerprinting. Now
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          2  that Immigration is doing that fingerprinting, we

          3  still stand here to help our community. We are in a

          4  community where there are the most amount of

          5  immigration in Brooklyn. I would say 80 percent of

          6  non-immigrants live in Brooklyn. We are not

          7  attorneys. We don't supply legal advice. But we do

          8  have different firms, where if they need legal

          9  assistance we would refer them to.

         10                 When someone comes to the office we

         11  are a non-profit. We would assist them in filling

         12  out the forms. If someone come with the forms that

         13  are already filled out, I am a notary, I would

         14  notarize the forms. No notary can sign the form and

         15  then notarize it, it's against the law.

         16                 We would like, I think we have been

         17  doing a great job, we would like to continue doing

         18  the job, and I think if we continue and we are

         19  giving the help -- I agree with Interim (sic) 223,

         20  and if we have to be legalized, I am for it, but I

         21  think there is a need for people like us in the

         22  community, and we are willing to help.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 DR. BERRY: I am Dr. Michelle Berry

         25  McMaster, and I'm sorry that I don't have my report
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          2  together, because I didn't learn about it til 6:30

          3  last evening.

          4                 Well, we -- I'm over 26 Churches, and

          5  we are religious non-profit. We are certified, and

          6  we have every credential that we need according for

          7  a non-profit.

          8                 But I like to know where professional

          9  advice comes and where legal advice begins. We

         10  filled out all the forms, we sent them all in, had

         11  been denied, everything is in order, I'm speaking of

         12  the religious workers, we've got many through when

         13  the immigration was going on. I've been on the

         14  Immigration Boards for 26 Federal Plaza, for this is

         15  going on the 18th year, from the time the legal

         16  status came into being in Brooklyn, as we said it

         17  was in Brooklyn for Amnesty and all, we have been

         18  trained. And I'm not against Intro. 223, I'm for it.

         19  But I think that they should inform the public, they

         20  should teach them before they take any step to make

         21  this legal. Because I'm strictly against President

         22  Bush's proposal, anything that he has on that. But

         23  as a Bishop and a leader and a professional in East

         24  Flatbush, I think something should be done. We are

         25  not publicly informed.
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          2                 And at 26 Court Street, from 10:00 to

          3  3:00 every Saturday, Immigration form and lawyers

          4  are there, and they do give advice and I keep up

          5  with it, everything that's going on. But I don't

          6  think it's fair what Immigration is doing to the

          7  religious workers, when everything is in order, the

          8  money, their fate, and everything else - extremely

          9  deplorable.

         10                 REVEREND LEE: Good morning. My name

         11  is Reverend Terry Lee. I'm the Pastor of the ByWays

         12  and Hedges Youth for Christ Ministry in Brooklyn.

         13  And over the years as an immigrant, I've been here

         14  in this country for over 15 years, without a Green

         15  Card, and I have been searching for help and I just

         16  could not find. I've been to several politicians

         17  office congressman office, and I put in my request

         18  for assistance, and I've been over 25 times, I could

         19  remember, and I remember once I received a letter

         20  that a letter was sent out on my behalf, and

         21  attorneys asking for money, and I remember I just

         22  received my Green Card for 2001, and when I got it,

         23  I still go back to the congressional office, and

         24  they said they have not got any respond, go to

         25  Jamaica, go to Trinidad, go to St. Lucia, and I went
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          2  three times since I travel, and they still said they

          3  have not gotten a respond.

          4                 So, I know that a lot of the elected

          5  official who have the connection to help the

          6  community are not doing it. And what I have been

          7  doing over the years, we have been conducting

          8  seminars and what we do, we invited Immigration,

          9  which is Mashuka Burden (phonetic), Karen Fleishman

         10  from DYCD, speak on what kind of crime can effect

         11  young immigrants. We have the District Attorney,

         12  Charles Hynes, speak on immigration thoughts, and we

         13  have police headquarters, Police Commissioner Aufice

         14  (phonetic) would speak and let the community know

         15  that they must not be afraid of coming out, and

         16  report a crime if they're undocumented.

         17                 Now, these are some of the

         18  assistants, and, of course, Dr. Stewart, I've seen

         19  you at the seminar that we conducted with Charles

         20  Hynes, Brooklyn DA.

         21                 We are here to serve the community,

         22  and we want to have a clergy, and as concerned

         23  immigrants, we want to be reassured that families

         24  that are here, that are undocumented, after spending

         25  15 years of investment, it is traumatizing to know

                                                            100

          1  IMMIGRATION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  that you have to get up, leave the children, go back

          3  home. There's a lot of people going home, they're

          4  committing more violence because they've been

          5  deported. People losing their mind because after

          6  leaving their money in the bank they can't get it,

          7  their house, they can't get it, everything, and

          8  whatever we can do to work with your program and to

          9  enforce this law, that we can inform and educate the

         10  community. We want to be a part of it. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Before I

         12  continue, I'd like to recognize Councilman John Liu.

         13  Do you want to say something or ask a question?

         14                 First, I want to thank you, gentlemen

         15  and ladies, for coming out from Brooklyn to speak on

         16  this issue.

         17                 What we are trying to do is not to

         18  outlaw immigration services with people who are not

         19  lawyers. What we're trying to do is to make sure

         20  that those people provide such services, provide it

         21  in an equitable way, in a way that is not

         22  fraudulent, in a way that is beneficial to the

         23  clients, and not have offices where you will provide

         24  a service and then run away. You cannot be found a

         25  week or a month later. We have seen experiences
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          2  where people went and got the services, and the

          3  services were incorrect, were fraudulent in a sense,

          4  because papers were filled out incorrectly, and when

          5  they take large sums of money and when they take

          6  those large sums of money there is no receipt, and

          7  then when you further check to find out what's

          8  happening, they disappear. Because many times these

          9  people submitted to the immigration office, and it

         10  takes two months and even years before you get a

         11  true response, even if you get a response, sometimes

         12  a response, you may not receive it, and what is

         13  being told to these clients is that, listen, you

         14  know immigration takes a long time, and by the time

         15  they get the answer, these providers are gone with

         16  your four or five or six-thousand dollars, and those

         17  are the cases which we are looking at. So, we're

         18  looking to see if there's a way anyone were

         19  providing such services, must be trained and if

         20  they're trained should be at least have some sort of

         21  guideline whereby they might be licensed, or

         22  whatever, to provide that service. We can check with

         23  them afterwards, we can go after them if they

         24  provide services that are somewhat fraudulent.

         25                 So, I don't know if my colleagues, if
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          2  they have any other questions, but those are what

          3  we're thinking about, and I hope that you can keep

          4  in touch to make sure that whatever services they're

          5  providing, I know that's not the only thing you

          6  might provide, you might provide other advice on

          7  other things, maybe insurance and other things you

          8  might be doing, but the fact is you are out there

          9  providing a service and we want to make sure, we

         10  want to protect the good people, people who are

         11  providing a service and we want to get rid of the

         12  unscrupulous people.

         13                 MR. LAPIERRE: One other thing that

         14  I've heard a lot of complaint, and what I would like

         15  for you to maybe add to your law, is make sure that

         16  anyone that do the process of the application, make

         17  sure that the client received a certified receipt

         18  from the postal service that their application was

         19  sent out. So the client could use that postal

         20  information and they could call the postal service,

         21  find out where that mail gone, because sometimes

         22  some of the people that took the money, and they

         23  sign the paper in front and they put it under the

         24  desk for three, four months, and because of this one

         25  thing, the backlog, the backlog, this is when you
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          2  call and there's a lot of people that I know coming

          3  to me and they're asking me what can they do, what

          4  can they do? So this is something that we need to

          5  inform.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Definitely we

          7  would look into that to make sure that at least

          8  process, one part of the process. But our duty here

          9  today is basically to get ideas from the agencies

         10  and the folks that will understand and know what's

         11  happening so that we can come up with a law that is

         12  beneficial to everyone to protect the citizens of

         13  the City of New York.

         14                 Yes?

         15                 DR. BERRY: I would like to know when

         16  your office or the government will start the

         17  training for these individuals so when the Intro.

         18  223 is introduced and become law, they will be ready

         19  to be certified, or licensed, whatever the case may

         20  be.

         21                 I'm not speaking of myself, I'm

         22  speaking of East Flatbush and all the business that

         23  we associate with, these people that are having this

         24  problem.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: There is a
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          2  process, as the Commissioner said, there are ways in

          3  which we can work with this.

          4                 As a matter of fact, we are seeking

          5  to have the monies, the $5 million go back into

          6  immigration services, and that that would be part of

          7  the program, in terms of getting people trained to

          8  provide immigration services, to the community-based

          9  organizations and even people who are interested in

         10  providing immigration services.

         11                 DR. BERRY: But they are not being

         12  informed publicly of what is going on. Why? I mean,

         13  I didn't learn til 6:30 last evening about the

         14  program and about what was happening, plus they

         15  changed it from 1:00 p.m. to 10:00 a.m.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Oh, you're

         17  talking about today's hearing?

         18                 DR. BERRY: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: We continuously

         20  have Immigration hearings in the City Council, and

         21  sometimes schedules change, sometimes based on

         22  availability of space and all of that, and there are

         23  other reasons why these things change.

         24                 DR. BERRY: Excuse me. Not changing,

         25  why weren't we informed?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You may not have

          3  been on the list as one of those folks to deal -- we

          4  deal with a lot of the immigration agencies that

          5  service New York City. That's why you see we had

          6  some of them here today, and there's not all

          7  Immigration providers that we will contact when

          8  we're having a hearing. So, you may not be on the

          9  list. And if you would like to be on the list, we

         10  will then put you on the list. But any immigration

         11  service or hearing that we're having, you will be

         12  notified.

         13                 DR. BERRY: Well, Mr. Reed is supposed

         14  to know about that. That's whom I spoke to

         15  personally.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Well, you're

         17  talking about my office?

         18                 DR. BERRY: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Sometimes the

         20  scheduling is here, not necessarily from my district

         21  office. The scheduling here may change, and

         22  sometimes I, myself, might only know at the last

         23  minute. So, you know, I'll excuse you for that.

         24                 Yes, I want to thank you folks for

         25  coming out. You have been a great service to us.
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          2  We're going to be working with the forces that can

          3  make it happen, to come up with a decent bill that

          4  will protect our citizens, and at least protect the

          5  providers who are doing what we call a legitimate,

          6  decent, good job, because the lawyers are too

          7  expensive to fill out forms, and for the basic

          8  things of immigration, so there is a great need for

          9  this type of service. We understand that. If there

         10  was not this need, you won't have all these folks

         11  providing this service, and only when there is a

         12  great need, tremendous need, that you would have

         13  unscrupulous people trying to do these things.

         14                 So, I want to let you know that we'll

         15  be working to make sure that this service for

         16  immigrants is protected.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 MR. LAPIERRE: Thank you for having

         19  us.

         20                 DR. BERRY: I'd like to be on the

         21  list.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: With that in

         23  mind, we adjourn this meeting.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 12:35 p.m.)
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